IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92,006

---

JOE ELTON NIXON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,  
LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

JONATHAN LANG

Attorney for Defendant Joe Elton Nixon

1114 Avenue of the Americas, 44th Floor

New York, NY 10036-7794

212-626-4204

Fax: 212-626-4120

Florida Bar No.: Admitted Pro Hac Vice

## CITATIONS TO THE RECORD

References to the record will be as follows:

"R." refers to the twelve volumes of transcript, pleadings and orders, numbered pages 1-2104.

## I. INTRODUCTION

Hard facts make bad law; and when a mentally disturbed and deficient man confesses to a notorious crime in a small community, this Court must be vigilant to see that it does not affirm bad law made below. Joe Elton Nixon, the defendant in this capital case, spent most of his trial not in the courtroom, but instead barely dressed, huddling in the Leon County Jail, while his lawyer conceded guilt, then presented mostly damaging evidence at the penalty phase of trial. A deranged and incompetent man stood in jeopardy of his life represented by a lawyer with whom he could not communicate and who embarked upon a trial strategy he neither approved nor understood.

Nixon appeals the extraordinary decision of the circuit court below, dismissing without a hearing all claims for post-conviction relief notwithstanding fact-intensive issues of ineffective assistance of counsel at both the guilt and penalty phases of trial, mental incompetency, and violations of Brady v. Maryland and Giglio v. United States. The dismissal violates Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 and precedents of this Court, and contravenes this Court's decision in this case on direct appeal, in which the Court declined to rule on Nixon's ineffective assistance claims under United States v. Cronin and instead directed that the issues be developed in a Rule 3.850 proceeding like the one dismissed by the Circuit Court without any factual development at all.

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. Procedural History**

On August 29, 1984, a Leon County grand jury indicted Joe Elton Nixon for first degree murder, kidnapping, arson and robbery, involving the death of Jeanne Bickner. R. 1-2. Nixon pled not guilty to all charges. Jury selection and the guilt phase of the trial took place from July 15 to July 22, 1985. At trial, Nixon's lawyer conceded his guilt. R. 1852. The jury found Nixon guilty. R. 704. The penalty phase followed on July 24 and 25, 1985, after which the jury recommended death by a vote of 10 to 2. R. 1053. The trial court sentenced Nixon to death. R. 288.

Nixon appealed his conviction and death sentence to this Court, which remanded the case to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing on ineffective assistance of counsel. SR1. 1-2; A-345-46. This Court was "concerned with whether Nixon knowingly and voluntarily consented to the trial strategy of which he now complains," viz., the concession of guilt. SR1. 1; A-345.

On November 25, 1987, the circuit court held a hearing on the ineffective assistance claim, SR1. 5-32, and then returned the case to this Court for guidance. This Court again remanded, with directions that the circuit court conduct a further evidentiary hearing. October 4, 1988 Order at 1-2; A-347-48.

The circuit court held another hearing on December 19, 1988, at which the defense called Michael Corin, Nixon's trial attorney. SR2. 2-

62. The circuit court made no findings; instead it again sent the case back to this Court, which again remanded it to allow the State to present witnesses. After another hearing (SR3. 8-164), the circuit court concluded:

1. Trial Defense Counsel Corin reviewed with Defendant/Appellant Nixon the defense approach to the case in general terms including, but not limited to, the probability that he would concede the killing of the victim by Nixon.

2. Corin and Nixon had previous attorney-client relationships, both were veterans of the criminal justice system and although Nixon manifested no reaction, he understood what was to take place.

3. Nixon made no objection and did not protest the strategy and tactic employed at trial.

Order Pursuant to Remand dated October 3, 1989; SR3. 3-7, at 6; A-340-44, at 343.

Nixon appealed the October 3, 1989 circuit court Order to this Court, which affirmed the conviction and death sentence. Nixon v. State, 572 So.2d 1336 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 854 (1991). However, this Court denied without prejudice Nixon's claim under United States v. Cronin, 466 U.S. 648 (1984) ("Cronin"), that his attorney's concession of guilt deprived him of effective assistance of counsel, inviting Nixon to raise the issue in a Rule 3.850 motion. Id. at 1340.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> The State did not oppose the idea that the Cronin claim should be litigated in 3.850 proceedings; indeed, it urged that result: "[T]he state urges this Court to...refuse to engage in speculation as to what occurred off-the-record below and require appellant to "ripen" his claim by alleging nonconsent to his defense counsel's strategy pursuant to a motion for post-conviction relief whereupon an on-the-record

Rehearing was denied on January 24, 1991. Id. at 1336. On October 7, 1991, the United States Supreme Court denied Nixon's Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

On October 14, 1993, pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850, Nixon filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence (the "3.850 Motion;" 3.850 R. 405-841). After the original trial judge recused himself, the case was assigned to Circuit Judge L. Ralph Smith, Jr. On December 11, 1996, Judge Smith heard oral argument. 3.850 R. 3035-3107. On October 22, 1997, he issued an Order Denying Motion for Post-conviction Relief (the "October 22 Order;" 3.850 R. 3561-3575; A-318-31). Joe Nixon appeals that Order.

## **B. Facts**

We present here three subsets of facts within the larger set of all applicable facts: (1) the facts apparent on the record, (2) additional facts available to trial counsel (for example, through depositions, other discovery and witness statements, and reasonable investigation) but not acted upon by him and therefore not in the trial record, and (3) facts adduced in the course of the 3.850 proceedings. Regrettably, not all of these facts were presented at trial, mainly because trial counsel did not develop them. All are properly before this Court because sets (1) and (2) are apparent from the record, and

---

inquiry could then be conducted." State's Answer Brief on Direct Appeal at 19; 3.850R. 2891 (emphasis added).

set (3) has been pleaded in the 3.850 Motion and must be taken as true for the purposes of this appeal. See Montgomery v. State, 615 So.2d 226, 228 (5th Dist. Ct. App. 1993). Cf. McNeal v. Culver, 365 U.S. 109, 117 (1961) ("[T]he allegations [in a Florida state habeas petition] themselves made it incumbent on the Florida court to grant petitioner a hearing and to determine what the true facts are.").<sup>2</sup>

### **1. The Crime**

The facts of the crime are subject to dispute more than previous court decisions have understood; indeed, only a few can be agreed upon: On Sunday, August 12, 1984, Jeanne Bickner had lunch with friends at the Governor's Square Mall, in Tallahassee. Sometime after that, Bickner was taken to a secluded area near Tallahassee where she was tied to a tree with jumper cables. She was set afire and died, either

---

<sup>2</sup> Under Rule 3.850 an evidentiary hearing is required unless the motion and record conclusively show that the movant is not entitled to relief. See Harich v. State, 484 So.2d 1239, 1241 (Fla. 1986) ("Because an evidentiary hearing has not been held...we must treat [the] allegations as true except to the extent that they are conclusively rebutted by the record."). See also Mills v. State, 559 So.2d 578, 578-579 (Fla. 1990). "The law is clear that under Rule 3.850 procedure, a movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion or files and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So.2d 1354, 1355 (Fla. 1984). Particularly critical here, the original trial judge recused himself from the Rule 3.850 proceedings, so the 3.850 Judge below never observed a single witness in the case.

from the fire or from having been strangled beforehand. Joe Nixon confessed to this crime. 3.850R. 914-65; A-99-131(I).

We concede neither the validity nor the accuracy of Nixon's confession. As will be shown below, record evidence, evidence trial counsel knew of but did not use, and evidence subsequently adduced call it into serious question. To begin with, though, Nixon told the following story:

1. Joe Nixon encountered Jeanne Bickner in the parking lot of the Governor's Square Mall on a Saturday afternoon. Confession at 4-5, 6, 39-40; A-101-02, 103, 128-29. Notwithstanding numerous attempts by investigators to get Nixon to change the Saturday date, he insisted that the acts took place on a Saturday (see id.).

2. Nixon said that he knew Bickner: "She knows me. She knows my name and everything....Well, she just, or something, up on campus, you know, I be up on Florida State or something. I think she was a teacher or something." Confession at 7; A-103.

3. According to the confession, Nixon told Bickner that he had a broken muffler on his uncle's Chevrolet Monte Carlo and that he had hurt his arm. Confession at 5-6; A-101-02. Bickner offered him a ride, and they left the Mall in Bickner's 1973 MG two-seat, convertible, with Bickner driving voluntarily and Nixon in the front passenger seat. Confession at 7, 8, 10; A-103, 104, 106.

4. Nixon said that at some point he hit Bickner on the head, overpowered her and, from the passenger side of the car, managed to pull the MG safely over to the side of the road. He then got the still

conscious Bickner out of the car and forced her into the trunk. Confession at 10-13; A-106-09.

5. Nixon said he next drove the low road-clearance MG sports car to a logging road, then over the rutted dirt road for what was later determined to be about two miles to the secluded site where Bickner's body was found. Confession at 13-14; A-109-10.

6. Nixon said that, at this wooded scene, he took Bickner out of the trunk of the MG. Singlehandedly and despite Bickner's struggles, he managed to tie her to a tree with two jumper cables from the MG. Nixon first said he tied her feet and left hand, using one cable for the feet, and the other for her hand. He also said there were two separate cables. Confession at 16-17; A-112-13. Later, he said that maybe he did tie her around the waist, and that if he did, he guessed it was with a cable. Confession at 45; A-131(C). To support that statement, Nixon changed his story, saying he must have loosened her feet, put a bag on her head, put a cable around her waist and then re-tied her feet. Moments later, he changed the story again to say that he never tied Jeanne Bickner's feet. Confession at 45-46; A-131(C)-131(D). The final story -- elicited after police coaching -- accords with the crime scene photographs.

7. Nixon said he set a fire with some things he found in the car, including the "tonneau" cover, a fabric piece that goes over the retracted convertible top. After some conversation with Bickner, he choked her until she died. Finally, he said he threw the burning

tonneau cover onto what he thought was Bickner's dead body and left the scene driving the MG. Confession at 18-23; A-114-20. He returned the MG to the Mall and found his friend, Willy ("Tiny") Harris, who helped him pick up the Monte Carlo at the Mall and return it to his uncle's house. Confession at 24-26; A-120-22.

8. Nixon said that he burned his trousers and shirt at the crime scene because they had blood on them and returned to town in his underwear. Confession at 40-42; A-129-31.

To a thinking person, Joe Nixon's statement should have appeared questionable; but given the statements and other information gleaned in the investigation, this confession was downright incredible. These statements and information disclose:

1. The crime took place on a Sunday, not on a Saturday as Joe Nixon said. Bickner was seen by at least two witnesses on Sunday, August 12, 1984. See trial testimony of Mary Atteberry, R.1867-68, and Linda Gallagher, R.1871; A-184-85, 188. Still, not only did Nixon steadfastly state that it was a Saturday, John Nixon and Wanda Robinson -- Joe's brother and former girlfriend -- initially corroborated this statement. See Statement of John D. Nixon and Wanda Robinson, given August 14, 1984 ("John Nixon-Robinson Statement") at 3-5, 8; A-4-6, 9. Later, John placed the crime on a Sunday. See, e.g., Statement of John D. Nixon, given August 16, 1984 ("John Nixon Statement") at 26-27; A-23-24. Over time he still could not get the story quite straight. In his deposition he again stated that Joe never said what day the crime

had taken place. Deposition of John Nixon, taken February 14, 1985 ("John Nixon Deposition") at 25; A-38. This discrepancy was apparent both from the record and from discovery materials.

2. The notion that Nixon knew Bickner was flatly rejected by John Nixon and Robinson. The death certificate listed Bickner's occupation as "Personnel Program Analyst, Florida State Government." See State Exh. 15; A-193. John Nixon told the police that Joe "told me he didn't know the woman at all....She was a complete stranger to him." John Nixon Statement at 30; A-27. Wanda Robinson concurred: "I asked him who was it [sic] and he said he didn't know." Robinson statement at 7; A-53. This discrepancy was also obvious both from the record and available facts.

3. Although Nixon told the police that Bickner voluntarily drove him from the shopping center in the MG (Confession at 7-8; A-103-04), John Nixon and Wanda Robinson both stated that Joe Nixon had said that he put Bickner in the trunk of the Monte Carlo, not the MG, in broad daylight in the parking lot of the Governor's Square Mall. See, e.g., John Nixon Statement at 17, 19, 28, John Nixon Deposition at 28, Robinson Statement at 7; A-17, 19, 25, 41, 53. In distinct contrast to Joe's confession specifying the MG, John Nixon adamantly said that Joe had specified the Monte Carlo:

Q: [T]ell us what he told you [of how the crime happened].

A: I will tell you exactly what he told me. He told me that...out to Governor's Square Mall [he] parked my uncle's green and white Monte Carlo...The lady gave him

a boost off and everything and he abducted her and threw her in the trunk of his car.

Q: The trunk of his car?

A: Uh huh.

John Nixon Statement at 17; A-17. John said virtually the same thing in his deposition:

Q: Put her in the trunk of what car?

A: In the green and white car.

Q: Your Uncle Tom's Monte Carlo?

A: Uh huh.

John Nixon Deposition at 28; A-41. See also John Nixon-Robinson Statement at 10; A-11; Robinson Deposition at 31-32; A-74-75; Robinson Statement at 6; A-52. Thus, trial counsel knew from discovery that the key vehicle in the crime was open to question.

4. Other accounts reported that Joe Nixon drove his uncle's Monte Carlo, not the MG, to the crime scene. For example, John Nixon told the police that Joe said he used the Monte Carlo. John Nixon Statement at 17, 19, 28, 37 (implied); John Nixon Deposition at 28; A-17, 19, 25, 28, 41. Wanda Robinson gave identical information. Robinson Statement at 7, Robinson Deposition at 32; A-53, 75. And Wanda Robinson said that her mother had seen Joe, quite definitely driving the Monte Carlo, not the MG, past her house, as Wanda's children played out in front. Robinson Statement at 7-8; A-53-54. Wanda said that Joe had told her that Bickner was in the trunk of the car at this time. Robinson

Statement at 7; A-53.<sup>3</sup> All this information was available to trial counsel.<sup>4</sup>

5. The crime scene was located in a remote area, at least 1.7 miles from the nearest road (Tram Road) and accessible only by a series of "two-rut" dirt roads.<sup>5</sup> The MG is a small idiosyncratic car, likely to be particularly unfamiliar to a mentally retarded man. It has but

---

<sup>3</sup> At least one account reported that Joe Nixon drove his uncle's Monte Carlo, not the MG, to the crime scene, and that he then returned to the Governor's Square Mall, picked up the MG and took some of the things from the MG out to the crime scene, where he set them on fire. See, e.g., John Nixon Statement at 18-19; A-18-19.

<sup>4</sup> The "Monte Carlo account" is by far more plausible. Joe Nixon knew how to drive the Monte Carlo and an adult would readily fit into its trunk. This account makes more sense than one that assumes that Joe Nixon alone could have both abducted a presumably unwilling victim and coaxed the MG to the crime scene. But any account of Joe acting alone using the Monte Carlo requires a belief that Joe, a lone black man, overpowered Bickner, a white woman, and forced her into the Monte Carlo, in full view of Sunday afternoon shoppers at the Mall. See John Nixon Statement at 28, Robinson Statement at 6, Robinson Deposition at 31-32; A-25, 52, 74-75. It defies logic, if not experience. However, one or more accomplices could overpower Bickner and put her somewhere in the much larger Monte Carlo. The facts to test this questionable element of Nixon's confession were available to trial counsel.

<sup>5</sup> See Directions in Leon County Sheriff's Office Death Investigation Report (August 24, 1984); A-210-11.

four and a half inches of ground clearance, new and unloaded.<sup>6</sup> Four and a half inches is about the height of a 12-ounce soda can.

6. Joe Nixon could barely drive the MG. John Nixon said that days after the crime Joe could not get the car into reverse.<sup>7</sup> Joe Nixon was not familiar with the area where body was found.<sup>8</sup> This information was available to trial counsel.

7. For Jeanne Bickner to fit into the small trunk of the MG, the spare tire had to be removed. This would require Joe Nixon singlehandedly to maintain control over Bickner while opening the

---

<sup>6</sup> See "MG Series MGB Specifications," MGB Web Page, <http://www.mgcars.org.uk/MGB/mgbspec.html>; A-208. Bickner's car was an "M.G.B." See R. 1871; A-188. Photos of the interior of the car show that it had a manual transmission and cramped quarters. See A-201. Bickner's MG probably had even less than four and a half inches of ground clearance. It was over ten years old at the time of the crime and probably had wear on the springs and suspension. Nixon's weight in the car and Bickner's in the trunk, directly over the rear differential and exhaust system, would have brought the car even lower to the ground. Finally, the wheels would have likely slipped into the ruts of the road, bringing the bottom closer to the intervening crown.

<sup>7</sup> John Nixon said, "He tried to get the car in reverse. He couldn't hardly get it in reverse or whatever. He asked me would I show him, help him get it in reverse. I told him just pull it over there and he tried to get it in reverse and the car kept rolling down the hill and he couldn't never get it in reverse." John Nixon Statement at 27-28; A-24-25 (emphasis added). See also John Nixon-Robinson Statement at 21; A-11(A).

<sup>8</sup> "Q: Are you familiar with Tram Road...Joe? A: Uh, no. Q: Okay. You ever been down in there before? A: I been down there when I was younger but you know, I know it's a long ways you know from town and places like that." Confession at 13; A-109. In contrast, the crime scene was in an area where Wanda Robinson's mother had often gone fishing. See John Nixon-Robinson Statement at 10; A-11.

trunk, removing the spare tire, and then forcing her into a very small space. As John Nixon testified in a deposition:

A. What I haven't got the right idea on is which car he took the lady out there in. All he said was he put her in the trunk of the car. And I just looked at that little bitty car and I just figured, you know, he couldn't have took nobody in that little thing. The trunk ain't that big on that.

Q Too small to put a person in?

A That's what it seems like. I don't know if you could get somebody in there or not.

John Nixon Deposition at 30; A-43. The deposition was taken by trial counsel.

8. Joe Nixon said that he had burned all his clothing at the crime scene, except for his underwear, which he wore back to Tallahassee. Confession at 40-41; A-129-30. Joe categorically said that he never brought any bloody clothes back to Tallahassee. Confession at 41; A-130. But Wanda Robinson and John Nixon said that Joe showed them the clothes he said he wore in committing the crime. John Nixon-Robinson Statement at 4-5; John Nixon Statement at 11-12, 27; John Nixon Deposition at 24, 32; Robinson Statement at 10-12; Robinson Deposition at 26; A-5-6, 15-16, 24, 37, 45, 56-58, 71. The discrepancy was apparent from the discovery.

9. Robinson initially thought John, not Joe, should be the main suspect:

And I was telling him [Detective Paul Phillips] like, "How do you know John didn't have anything to do with killing

this woman?" And, "You've got Joe in jail, why don't you put John in jail?"

Robinson Deposition at 68; A-97. Detective Phillips tried to lead Robinson, by suggesting to her that she had been with John that Saturday and Sunday,<sup>9</sup> but her suspicion about John suggests alternative theories that could have either exonerated Joe Nixon or diminished his legal responsibility or his eligibility for the death penalty. Robinson also testified that, when she visited Joe in jail before trial, Joe said that John and his friends killed Bickner, and they made him watch. Robinson Deposition at 62-64; A-91-93. Trial counsel thus knew of the possibility that others were involved in the crime and that, possibly, Joe Nixon had not committed it at all.

10. Facts that counsel could have obtained but that were not obtained until a subsequent civil action brought by Jeanne Bickner's family against the Governor's Square Mall cast further doubt on the theory that Joe Nixon acted alone or committed the crime at all. See Roberts v. Governor's Square Mall, Case No. 86-2746, Fla. 2d Cir. Ct. In a deposition in that civil action, Wanda Robinson testified that, a

---

9

And he [Detective Phillips] said, "Wanda, you talking crazy. You need to shut up. You know John couldn't have killed the woman because John was with you," you know, and all of that. Which John was with me that Saturday and that Sunday.

And he just told me, you know, "You are not supposed to be talking about the case. So, just drop it, you know. Go ahead with your life."

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