IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOE	ELTON	NIXON,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. 92,006

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A.BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 300179

OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4579

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

defendant's lack of disciplinary reports while incarcerated (OR VI 1035-1037).

In order to prevail on this claim, Appellant must, of course, demonstrate both deficient performance of counsel and The State contends that Appellant has failed to demonstrate either, but that, even if deficient performance were shown, prejudice has still not been demonstrated under The proposed strategy now offered by collateral Strickland. counsel, involving the new experts, would seem to involve a penalty phase defense of "complete insanity" in which it was asserted that Nixon was totally insane at the time of the murder, as well as a full presentation of accounts of alleged abused and deprived childhood. Presentation of these matters, would not have created a reasonable probability of a different sentencing result. The manner in which Nixon committed the crimes, including his theft and pawning of the victim's jewelry and his destruction of the victim's vehicle to avoid detection, as well as his presentation of a detailed confession to the authorities, is inconsistent with any claim of complete insanity at the time, and any attempt to portray Nixon as the "greater victim" than Ms. Bickner would have done nothing but insult the This was a case of overwhelming aggravation in which death was the only appropriate or reasonable sentence. As to

the Eleventh Circuit observed in Clisby, supra, sometimes the best lawyering cannot convince the sentencer to overlook the facts of a brutal murder, and some cases almost certainly cannot be won by defendants. Joe Elton Nixon's case was one of these, and the circuit court's finding of lack of prejudice was correct. See also Grossman, supra; Breedlove, supra; King, supra; Mendyk, supra; Buenoano, supra; Correll, supra; Tompkins, supra. Nixon warrants no relief on this portion of his claim.

C. <u>Counsel's Handling of Aggravating Circumstances</u>

Collateral counsel also contends that Attorney Corin rendered ineffective assistance in conceding the application of the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor, and failing to object to jury instructions on four of the aggravators (Initial Brief at 68-69). This claim fails to satisfy either "prong" of <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>. As to the jury instructions, it is difficult to see any deficiency of counsel, in that no court had ever invalidated such instructions at the time of Nixon's trial in 1985, and, indeed, no challenge has been successfully entertained to those instructions relating to prior conviction or commission during a felony. See Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So.2d 1253, 1258 (Fla. 1995) (counsel not ineffective for failing to object to instructions which had

previously been deemed constitutional). As to the HAC factor's application, counsel's "concession" was made to the court and opposing counsel, rather than expressly to the jury (OR V 743), although counsel did, during the course of his argument, refer to the crime as "atrocious" (OR VI 1027). Collateral counsel has failed to demonstrate that any reasonable attorney in Attorney Corin's position would have contested the application of this aggravating factor. Considering the gruesome and torturous manner in which the victim died, as well as the fact that the finding of this aggravating circumstance is in accord with precedent, see, e.g., Henry v. State, 613 So.2d 429 (Fla. 1992) (HAC properly found where victim robbed, bound and then set afire), neither deficient performance nor prejudice has been demonstrated. No relief is warranted as to this claim.

<u>Issue IV</u>

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S CLAIM OF ERROR, UNDER AKE v. OKLAHOMA, 472 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985), WAS NOT ERROR.

In a somewhat related claim, Nixon contends that he was deprived of competent mental health assistance, in violation of Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S. Ct. 1087, 84 L. Ed. 2d 53 (1985). The circuit court found this claim procedurally barred, but rejected on the merits any assertion that trial counsel had

been ineffective for failing to provide the experts with sufficient background information (PCR XIX 3562, 3567-3571). As this case does not represent one in which defense counsel relied upon "grossly inadequate" mental evaluations, cf. State v. <u>Sireci</u>, 502 So.2d 1221, 1224 (Fla. 1987), the trial court's rejection of this claim was proper. As previously demonstrated, the experts retained by defense counsel had a substantial amount of background information supplied by defense counsel himself, and the experts themselves conducted a significant amount of testing on Appellant. Although Appellant has now secured new experts who have offered affidavits in some contravention of the findings of the prior experts (PCR IV 719-763), and although it is alleged, without attestation, that the original experts may modify their testimony in some respects, following the consideration of "new" matters (PCR III, 562, 565-566), it cannot be said that the original experts' evaluations were so deficient as to deprive Nixon of due process. Accordingly, no relief is warranted as to this claim.

Issue V

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING NIXON'S CLAIM CONCERNING HIS PRIOR CONVICTIONS TO BE LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT.

As his next claim, Nixon contends that Judge Smith erred in his disposition of his claim concerning his two prior

convictions. Nixon claimed that because he allegedly was incompetent at the time of this trial, such incompetency should serve as a basis to violate his prior convictions as well (PCR IV 684-692); accordingly, Nixon contended that he was entitled to relief under <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, 486 U.S. 578, 108 S.Ct. 1981, 100 L.Ed.2d 575 (1988). Judge Smith found this claim legally insufficient, under <u>Henderson v. Singletary</u>, 617 So.2d 313, 316 (Fla. 1993) (PCR XIX 3566). Reversible error has not been demonstrated.

Judge Smith's reliance upon <u>Henderson</u> was not misplaced, in that in such case the defendant, as here, contended that his death sentence should be vacated, under <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, because the prior convictions utilized in aggravation were allegedly invalid. Unlike Nixon, however, Henderson actively litigated challenges to his prior convictions, which were still pending at the time of his execution. This Court found Henderson's reliance upon <u>Johnson</u> misplaced, given the fact that the prior convictions had not been vacated, additionally citing to <u>Tafero v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1990), <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 541 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1989), and <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1989). Nixon has demonstrated no reason why <u>Henderson</u> should not apply *sub judice*, and the order on appeal should be affirmed.

Additionally, Nixon notes in a footnote, in regard to his Florida conviction for battery on a law enforcement officer, that his public defender "considered" an appeal of this conviction based on Nixon's alleged incompetency to stand trial (Initial Brief at 93, n.42). That conviction was in fact appealed and affirmed. Nixon v. State, 495 So.2d 1172 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Given the fact that this prior conviction has been final for more than a decade, it is clear that any attack upon it at this juncture would be procedurally barred, and this Court has traditionally held that claims of this nature are not cognizable on 3.850. See, e.g., Roberts v. State, 678 So.2d 1232, 1234-1235 (Fla. 1996). Nixon merits no relief on this claim.

<u>Issue VI</u>

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING NIXON'S CLAIM CONCERNING ALLEGED RACIAL DISCRIMINATION TO BE LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT.

In his next claim, Nixon contends that Judge Smith erred in denying relief as to alleged racial discrimination in the prosecution of his case. In his 3.850 motion, Nixon contended that Leon County prosecutors have not traditionally sought the death penalty in cases in which the victim was black, and that, hence, Nixon's prosecution was racially motivated (PCR IV 667-683); Nixon likewise contended that municipal services are less

available to the black community in Leon County and that racial discrimination exists in employment. Appellant similarly argued that the prosecutor introduced racism in his case, in that several witnesses referred to the race of individuals whom they had observed (PCR IV 678). Judge Smith found this claim legally insufficient on the basis of this Court's decision in Foster v. State, 614 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1992) (PCR XIX 3565). Appellant has failed to demonstrate any error in this ruling.

This Court held in Foster that, under such precedents as McCleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279, 107 S.Ct. 1756, 95 L.Ed.2d 262 (1987), a defendant seeking to make a claim premised upon racial discrimination must show that the State Attorney's Office acted with purposeful discrimination in seeking the death penalty in his case. Id., at 463. Nixon, like Foster, has failed to make such a showing, and simply relies upon generalized statistics which have nothing to do with his particular case. Appellant apparently recognizes this, as he asks this Court to recede from Foster (Initial Brief at 94). Appellee respectfully contends that Nixon has failed to demonstrate any reason why this Court should do so, and that the circuit court's order should be affirmed. Appellant's claim that the prosecution introduced race because witnesses referred to individuals by their race (PCR IV 678) is frivolous. As Appellant notes elsewhere in his

brief (Initial Brief at 17), the witnesses could not identify either the defendant or the victim by name, and hence chose to describe them as "a black male" or "a white female." This is not racism, and reversible error has not been demonstrated.

Issue VII

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING NIXON'S CLAIMS UNDER <u>ESPINOSA v. FLORIDA</u>, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), TO BE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

As his final claim, Nixon contends that his sentence of death vacated because jury must. be the received unconstitutionally vague instructions on the HAC and CCP aggravators; in support of this claim, Nixon relies upon Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992), <u>James v. State</u>, 615 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1993), and Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994). Appellee would contend that Appellant's reliance upon these precedents is misplaced, and that the court below was correct in finding this claim to be procedurally barred (PCR XIX 3562-3563); rejecting this claim, Judge Smith found:

> Defendant argues that this issue may be raised in a 3.850 motion because it is a fundamental change in Florida Defendant cites James v. State, 615 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1993), wherein the supreme court granted relief based on an Espinosa claim in a 3.850 proceeding. The court in James held that claims arguing that the instruction on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator is unconstitutionally vague are procedurally barred unless a "specific" objection on that ground is made at trial and pursued on Because in James the defendant had appeal. objected to the standard instruction and had arqued the constitutionality of instruction, the court opined that it would

be unfair to deprive him of the <u>Espinosa</u> ruling.

Defendant states that counsel moved at the penalty phase charge conference that the especially heinous and cold calculating aggravating circumstances overlap, thereby providing insufficient guidance to the jury. It appears that Defendant is attempting to that this issue was properly preserved. Pursuant to <u>James</u>, the objection must be specific and raised on appeal. record indicates that no specific objection was made nor was the issue raised on appeal. Accordingly, <u>James</u> is distinguishable from the instant case and the issue is procedurally barred. <u>See also Harvey v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 656 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1995).

(PCR XIX 3563).

Appellant has entirely failed to demonstrate any error in the above ruling.

As the circuit court correctly found, these claims are barred under <u>James</u>, because no contemporaneous objection was interposed at the time of trial, on the basis that the jury instructions were unconstitutionally vague, nor were any such claims presented on Nixon's direct appeal. The record reflects that trial counsel interposed no objection on vagueness grounds to the jury instructions at issue in regard to these two aggravators. Indeed, trial counsel specifically stated on the record that he had no argument of any kind as to the applicability of the HAC factor, and as to the CCP factor, simply stated he felt there was a potential for improper

doubling (OR V 887-889). Although trial counsel had filed a motion to declare the statute unconstitutional, this pleading did not attack the constitutionality of any aggravating factor or jury instruction thereupon (OR I 101-102), and, in any event, would be insufficient so as to vest preservation, see, e.g., Beltran-Lopez v. State, 626 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1993); any contention that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the standard instructions utilized in 1985 would be without merit. See Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So.2d 1253, 1258 (Fla. 1995) (counsel not ineffective for failing to object to instructions which had previously been deemed constitutional). In addition to the procedural default at trial, this matter was procedurally defaulted on appeal as well, in that Nixon's appellate counsel made no attack upon the finding of these aggravating circumstances or upon the jury instructions thereon (Initial Brief, Nixon v. State, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 67,583, filed December 8, 1986); at most, appellate counsel attacked alleged doubling between the felony murder pecuniary gain factors (id., at 64-65). As <u>James</u> and <u>Jackson</u> both require adequate preservation of constitutional challenges both at trial and on appeal, the circuit court's finding of procedural bar was clearly proper.

To the extent that any further argument is necessary, Appellee would contend that any error herein was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), in that the aggravating circumstances were established beyond a reasonable doubt under any definition of the term. is difficult to conceive of any words to describe the murder of Jeanne Bickner, other than heinous, atrocious and cruel, given the fact that she was beaten, tied up and burned alive, after she had begged for her life; likewise, Nixon clearly planned the enterprise in a cold and calculated manner, as he abducted the victim from a public place, subdued her, transported her to a remote location, bound her, tormented her, stole all of her possessions deemed to be of value, murdered her to avoid detection and took further steps to prevent capture, such as burning her vehicle. Under this Court's precedent, reversible error has not been demonstrated. See, e.q., Henry v. State, 613 So.2d 429, 433-434 (Fla. 1992) (HAC and CCP factors properly found where defendant robbed victims, bound them and set them afire); Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So.2d 313, 315 (Fla. 1993) (jury instruction error as to HAC and CCP factors harmless where facts established factors under any definition of the term; victims taken to remote location, bound, robbed of valuables, and executed after begging to be spared); Slawson v. State, 619

So.2d 255, 261 (Fla. 1993); <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 261, 267 (Fla. 1993). The trial court's denial of relief as to this procedurally barred claim should be affirmed in all respects.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for the aforementioned reasons, the circuit court's denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.